09-03-2020

CLERK OF WISCONSIN The Wisconsin Court of Appeals Districtor Appeals

2020 AP 952-CR

State of Wisconsin, Plaintiff-Respondent

V.

Aaron Oleston Defendant-Appellant

> Appeal from The Circuit Court of Rock County The Honorable John M. Wood, presiding

Brief of Appellant Aaron Oleston

Steven Roy Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant Wisconsin State Bar No. 1115155 1310 O'Keeffe Ave. #315 Sun Prairie, WI 53590

Statement of the Issues

Does the First Amendment protect the rights of citizens to crudely criticize police officers?

Statement on Oral Argument and Publication

Oral argument is requested. This court may only direct the appeal be submitted on the briefs when the arguments of the appellant are plainly contrary to sound relevant legal authority, are meritless, involve solely questions of fact clearly supported by sufficient evidence, or the briefs fully present and develop the issues. Mr. Oleston's arguments are not contrary to sound legal theory, they are not meritless, and they are not factual arguments. Mr. Oleston's arguments involve a substantial breadth of First Amendment law, and touch on areas previously unaddressed by the Wisconsin Courts. Given the nature and circumstances of this case, and the continued discourse in the State and National community on policing, this Court should expend the additional judicial resources to ensure this case is decided properly.

Publication is also requested. Wisconsin Courts have yet to determine the standards expected of police and citizens when debating police actions. This is a matter of ongoing and substantial public interest. The Wisconsin Courts have long been silent on this issue, and the State has been experiencing a substantial growth in calls for police reform and demonstrations against the police. It is critical for all members of the State to understand what is expected and what will result in criminal punishment. This case will also likely contribute to the existing

Case 2020AP000952 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-03-2020 Page 6 of 23

First Amendment Jurisprudence with its substantial collection of prior decisions.

Statement of Facts and the Case

The facts giving rise to this case are straightforward and were all captured on Mr. Oleston's cameras. (See Exhibits 2,4). Mr. Oleston disagrees with many police actions including their harassment of the homeless, failure to identify themselves, and wasting taxpayer funds. (R.65:208). On August 13, 2018, Mr. Oleston went to the Janesville police department, positioned himself on the sidewalk near the rear entrance, and began to record what he saw. (R.65:204-205). Counts 1-4 of the criminal complaint occurred on this date.

Count 1

Officer Jeremy Wiley was walking into the building to begin his shift when he saw Mr. Oleston and said "Hi". (R.65:163). Mr. Oleston responded by saying "I don't talk to terrorists, so fuck you...suck a dick...you fucking thug". (R.65:163; Exhibit 2).

Count 2

Officer Daniel Schoonover was walking into the building to begin his shift. (R.65:98) Like Officer Wiley, Officer Schoonover said "Hi" to Mr. Oleston. (R.65:99). Mr. Oleston replied, "you work for this piece of shit organization, you Nazi ISIS organization." (R.65:99; Exhibit 2).

Count 3

Officers Robert Gruenwald and Ryan Nabler were leaving the police department at the end of their shift. (R.65:106,110).

Case 2020AP000952 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-03-2020 Page 7 of 23

Mr. Oleston asked them if they were janitors. (R.65:106,110). When Officer Nabler responded they were officers, Mr. Oleston remarked, "Oh, off duty". (R.65:106,110). He then asked the officers if they were going home to beat their wives, and called them assholes.

Count 4

Officers Pearson, Smith, and Rau were leaving the station. (R.65:116,123,145-146). As they were walking towards their vehicles, Mr. Oleston asked them if they were "having fun fucking with peoples' lives", and noted "citizens are forced to talk, we ask questions and you don't talk." (R.65:116,123,145-146). Count 5

On August 15, 2018, Mr. Oleston resumed his position on the sidewalk. (R.65:215-216). Officer Bentley noticed Mr. Oleston grumbling. (R.65:153). Mr. Oleston noticed Officer Vitaioli's vehicle did not have a front license plate. (R.65:150). Another officer tested the siren on their patrol car. (R.65:153). After the siren stopped, Mr. Oleston could be heard pointing out the missing license plate in a raised voice. (R.153). Officer Wiley was present, and arrested Mr. Oleston for harassing off-duty place officers. (R.65:165).

On September 13, 2018, a criminal complaint was filed charging Mr. Oleston with five counts of disorderly conduct, and one charge of obstructing a police officer. (R.1:1-4). On March 19, 2019, Counsel for Mr. Oleston filed a motion to dismiss all charges as Mr. Oleston's conduct and speech are protected by the First Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1

Section 3 of the Wisconsin Constitution. (R.16:1-3). The parties briefed the issues, and on April 30, 2019, the Circuit court held a hearing on the motion, and denied the motion to dismiss. (R.59:50). In its ruling, the circuit court placed significant emphasis on the right of officers to be let alone, (R.59:38,50); the lack of social value to Mr. Oleston's comments, (R.59:41,49); and Mr. Oleston's initiation of contact. (R.59:49).

Counsel for Mr. Oleston filed a petition for leave to appeal on June 27, 2019. The petition was denied, and Mr. Oleston proceeded to trial. At trial, Mr. Oleston was convicted on each count of disorderly conduct, but was found not guilty of obstructing a police officer. (R.65:282-285). On December 11, 2019, Mr. Oleston was placed on two years probation with sentences withheld. (R.66:18). Mr. Oleston filed a notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief the next day. (R.54). A timely notice of appeal was filed on May 26, 2020. (R.55).

Argument

I. The First Amendment Protects Mr. Oleston's Speech A. Legal Standards

The right to freedom of speech is guaranteed under Article I, Section 3 of the Wisconsin Constitution, as well as the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. Despite the differences in language between the two provisions, there is no difference in the freedoms they guarantee. State v. Robert T., 2008 WI App 22 ¶6, 307 Wis. 2d 488, 746 N.W.2d 564 (2008). Whether Mr. Oleston's comments are protected by the First Amendment is a question which this court reviews de novo. A.S. v. A.S., 2001 WI ¶19

Freedom of speech is not unlimited, but must be protected from censorship or punishment unless it is shown likely to produce a clear and present danger of a serious substantive evil rising beyond public inconvenience, annoyance, or unrest.

Terminiello v. Chicago, 337 U.S. 1, 4, 69 S.Ct. 894 (1949). There are well defined and narrowly limited classes of speech, which the State may regulate without offending the First Amendment.

Chaplinsky v. N.H., 315 U.S. 568, 571-572, 62 S.Ct. 776 (1942).

These categories include the lewd and obscene, the libelous, and "fighting words"; those which by their very utterance inflict injury or tend to incite an immediate breach of the peace, and the profane. Id at 572. See, e.g., Brandenburg v. Ohio, 395 U.S. 444, 89 S. Ct. 1827 (1969)(Incitement to imminent lawless action);

Miller v. California, 413 U.S. 15, 93 S. Ct. 2607 (1973)

(Obscenity); New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254, 84

S.Ct. 710 (1964)(Libel and defamation); Watts v. United States, 394 U.S. 705, 89 S. Ct. 710 (1969)(True Threats).

Wisconsin Courts have consistently held Wis. Stat. §947.01 (Disorderly conduct) is not overly broad, and cannot be applied to speech which is protected by the First Amendment. State v. Douglas., 2001 WI 47 ¶21, 243 Wis.2d 204, 626 N.W.2d 725 (2001). Speech may only be prosecuted when it falls into one of the limited categories falling outside the protection of the First Amendment. A.S. v. A.S. 2001 WI 48 ¶16, 243 Wis. 2d 173, 626 N.W.2d 712 (2001). The disorderly conduct statute may be applied to speech alone when the speech is not an essential part of any exposition of ideas, when it is utterly devoid of social value, and when it can cause or provoke a disturbance. A.S v. A.S, 2001 WI 41 ¶17.

In determining if speech may serve as the basis for a conviction for disorderly conduct, courts must first determine if the speech falls into one of the narrow classes of unprotected speech. If the speech is not protected, then the court must determine the speech speech is not be an essential part of the exposition of ideas and is utterly devoid of social value. Only then may speech in and of itself satisfy the first element of disorderly conduct. A.S. v. A.S., 2001 WI ¶17.

- B. Mr. Oleston's Remarks Are Not Included in the Categories of Unprotected Speech
 - 1. Obscenity

Obscenity is limited to works which, as a whole appeal to the prurient interest in sex. *Miller v. California*, 413 U.S. 24. While Mr. Oleston did tell one officer to perform a sexual act, the

phrase "suck a dick" is frequently used in a metaphorical sense, as it was here, and represents only a small portion of the statements. It would be entirely unreasonable to find this comment appealed to the prurient interest, thus exempting count one from First Amendment protections.

2. True Threat

Mr. Oleston's remarks cannot be construed as a true threat. A true threat is a statement that a speaker would reasonably foresee that a listener would reasonably interpret as a serious expression of a purpose to inflict harm. *State v. Perkins*, 2001 WI 46 ¶49, 243 Wis. 2d 141, 626 N.W.2d 762 (2001). None of Mr. Oleston's statements reflect a desire for harm to come to the officers involved.

3. Libel

Mr. Oleston's statements are not libelous. The First Amendment does not protect a false statement made with knowledge it was false, or reckless disregard for whether it was false. New York Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 280. In count one Mr. Oleston called an officer a terrorist and a thug. These are matters of opinion. Similarly, in count two, Mr. Oleston expressed opinions about the Janesville Police Department, calling it a piece of shit, Nazi, ISIS organization. In count three Mr. Oleston offered his opinion of two officers, deeming them "assholes" and asked if they were going to beat their wives. In count four Mr. Oleston again asked a question of police officers. A question is not a statement. In count five, Mr. Oleston pointed out Officer Viatioli's vehicle did not have a front license plate.

While Mr. Oleson was incorrect about the legality of this, it is indeed a true statement of fact.

4. Incitement to Lawlessness

Mr. Oleston's comments cannot reasonably be construed as an incitement to lawlessness. In *Brandenburg v. Ohio*, the Supreme Court held the mere teaching of moral propriety or necessity of violence is protected by the First Amendment. Notably, Mr. Oleston never mentions violence against officers. While his comments may be distasteful, they do not depict even a desire of harm to befall officers.

5. Fighting Words

Fighting words are those *personally* abusive epithets which, when addressed to the ordinary citizen are inherently likely to provoke violent reaction. Cohen v. California, 403 U.S. 15, 20, 91 S.Ct. 1780 (1971)(Emphasis added). The freedom of individuals to verbally oppose police action without thereby risking arrest is one of the principal characteristics by which we distinguish a free nation from a police state. Houston v. Hill, 482 U.S. 451, 463, 107 S.Ct. 2502 (1987). Words which express contempt or ridicule, or are annoying may only be criminalized when they have the characteristic of plainly tending to excite the addressee to a breach of the peace. Gooding v. Wilson, 405 U.S. 518, 523, 92 S. Ct. 1103 (1971). In cases involving a police officer, narrower application is warranted as a we expect trained officers to exercise a higher degree of restraint than the average citizen and be less likely to respond in a belligerent manner. Houston v. Hill, 482 U.S. 462; see also, Glik v. Cunniffe, 655 F.3d 78 (1st Cir. 2011); Posr v. Court Officer Shield #207, 180 F.3d 409 Case 2020AP000952 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-03-2020 Page 13 of 23

(2d Cir. 1999); Mesa v. Prejean, 543 F.3d 264 (5th Cir. 2008); Kennedy v. Villa Hills, 635 F.3d 210, 216 (6th Cir. 2011); Braun v. Baldwin, 346 F.3d 761 (7th Cir 2003); Thurairajah v. City of Fort Smith, 925 F.3d 979 (8th Cir. 2019); Ford v. City of Yakima, 706 F.3d 1188 (9th Cir. 2013); Stearns v. Clarkson, 615 F.3d 1278 (10th Cir. 2010); Skop v. City of Atlanta, 485 F.3d 1130 (11th Cir 2007).

Counts two, four, and five cannot be classified as fighting words. In count two, Mr. Oleston only referenced the Janesville Police Department; this was not a personal epithet. In count four Mr. Oleston referenced the efforts of police organizations to make citizens talk, while frequently failing to answer similar questions. This is not a personal epithet. Count Five relates to Mr. Oleston pointing out an officer's car was missing a license plate. This, again, is not a personal epithet.

In count one, Mr. Oleston implies Officer Wiley is a terrorist and a thug for working as an officer. In count three, Mr. Oleston calls two officers assholes. These are personal epithets. However, they are not likely to even provide an average individual to violence, much less the high standard officers are held to. Buffkins v. Omaha, 922 F.2d 465, 472 (8th Cir. 1990) ("asshole' could not reasonably have prompted a violent response for arresting officers"). If this court allowed such common place indignities to justify convictions, the disorderly conduct statute would become a dangerous dragnet providing police with unfettered discretion to arrest individuals for words which offend or annoy them. Houston v. Hill, 482 U.S. 462. As the Supreme

Case 2020AP000952 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-03-2020 Page 14 of 23

Court noted this would be particularly problematic in the many one-on-one arrests where all that would be required for a conviction is the testimony of the officer the defendant called them a thug or asshole. *Id.* at 466.

6. Profanity

In Chaplinsky, the Supreme Court did include profanity in its exemptions from First Amendment Protections. Chaplinsky, 315 U.S. 572. Whether profane conduct tending to provoke a disturbance is protected is a matter of unsettled law. State v. Breitzman, 2017 WI 100 ¶48, 378 Wis. 2d 431, 904 N.W.2d 93 (2017). Wisconsin Case law does not indicate whether a charge of disorderly conduct under Wis. Stat. §947.01 based on profanity violates the right to free speech. Id. Decisions post-Chaplinsky have shied from the idea profanity can for the basis for a criminal conviction.

a) <u>Courts Have Retreated From Considering Profanity</u> To Be Unprotected Speech

In 1972, the Supreme Court struck down a Georgia law criminalizing opprobrious words or abusive language tending to cause a breach of the peace. *Gooding v. Wilson*, 405 U.S. 518, 92 S.Ct. 1103 (1972). The Court stated the statute could only be upheld as constitutional if could not be applied to vulgar or offensive speech protected by the First Amendment. *Id.* at 520. Georgia courts had sustained convictions for saying "Get the G—D_ bed rolls out...let's see how close we can come to the G—D_ tents" and "God Damn you, why don't you get out of the road." *Id.* at 525. The Court held these were not fighting words, and thus the statute was overbroad. *Id.* At 525, 528. The Court

Case 2020AP000952 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-03-2020 Page 15 of 23

notably omits *Chaplinsky's* inclusion of profanity as an unprotected class of speech.

Shortly thereafter, the Court issued a Per Curian decision reversing the Ohio Supreme Court's holding a statute criminalizing the abuse of another by menacing, insulting, slanderous, or profane language. Plummer v. Columbus, 414 U.S. 2 (1973). Slander, and menacing or threating language have long been outside the protecting of the First Amendment. A reasonable conclusion is the Supreme Court was narrowing the Chaplinsky categories; insults and profanity are only outside the scope of the First Amendment when they reach the level of fighting words. This interpretation is supported by a Per Curian option issued the next year, in which a conviction of criminal contempt for using the phrase "chicken-shit" in a court room was overturned. Eaton v. Tulsa, 415 U.S. 697 (1974). In Lewis v. New Orleans, the Court cast further doubt on the exemption of profanity from First Amendment protection. The Court held a statute which made it a crime for any individual to curse, revile, or to use obscene or opprobrious language had a broader sweep than the definition of fighting words. Lewis v. New Orleans, 415 U.S. 130, 132, 94 S. Ct. 970 (1974). Chaplinsky's language excluding profanity from the protections of the First Amendment was absent.

The federal circuits and state courts have heeded this notable absence. In Sandul v. Larion, the Sixth Circuit famously held a citizen raising their middle finger engages in speech protected by the First Amendment. Sandul v. Larion, 119 F.3d

Case 2020AP000952 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-03-2020 Page 16 of 23

1250, 1255 (6th. Cir 1997). In *Duran v. Douglas*, Duran made offensive gestures and yelled profanities in Spanish towards law enforcement. *Duran v. Douglas*, 904 F.2d 1372, 1378 (9th Cir. 1990). The Ninth Circuit, while criticizing Duran's behavior, noted "it was not illegal; criticism of the police is not a crime". *Id.* Illinois has long recognized arguing with a police officer, even if done loudly or with profane or offensive language, will not in and of itself constitute disorderly conduct. *See, Payne v. Pauley*, 337 F.3d 767, 777 (7th. Cir. 2003).

b) Wisconsin Should Follow the Modern Trend and Refrain From Criminalizing Profanity

Freedom of speech is undeniably at the heart of democracy. Only through free debate and free exchange of ideas can the government remain responsive to the will of the people, and change may occur peacefully. De Jong v. Oregon, 299 U.S. 353, 365, 57 S.Ct. 255 (1937). Speech serves its highest purpose when it creates dissatisfaction with the status quo. Terminiello v. Chicago, 337 U.S. 4. Speech must be protected a the instrument of peaceful change unless it is likely to produce a clear and present danger of serious evil. Id. The line between speech which is unconditionally guaranteed and speech which may be regulated and punished is finely drawn. Gooding v. Wilson, 405 U.S 522.

Linguistic expression conveys not only ideas, but emotions. Cohen v. California, 403 U.S. 26. Words are often chosen for the emotions they elicit as well as the cognitive views they present. Id. Allowing the criminalization of words deemed profane begins a slippery slope. Who is to determine what is and is not profane?

Case 2020AP000952 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-03-2020 Page 17 of 23

Governments may seize the opportunity of censoring particular words as a convenient guise for banning the expression of unpopular views. *Id*.

The First Amendment protects a significant amount of verbal criticism and challenges which are directed at law enforcement. Houston v. Hill, 482 U.S. 461. Encounters with law enforcement are frequently emotional encounters. The people must be free to choose the words the use to criticize government actors without risking arrest. Id. at 463. Allowing police to arrest members of the public for using words deemed by the government to be profane is a marked step away from our republic towards a police state. This Court should not break from the modern interpretation that profane speech not reaching the level of fighting words can form the basis for a criminal conviction.

II. Even if Unprotected, Mr. Oleston's Speech Cannot Support a Conviction for Disorderly Conduct

If this court were to erroneously conclude Mr. Oleston's speech was not protected, it still cannot form the basis for a charge of disorderly conduct as it was an essential part of the exposition of ideas and not devoid of social value. A.S. v. A.S., 2001 WI ¶17. Count one expresses the view police use violence to intimidate society, and Mr. Oleston wished to exercise his right to not talk with them. In count two Mr. Oleston expresses his dissatisfaction with the Janesville Police Department and compares them to Nazis and ISIS. Count three expresses Mr. Oleston's frustration with police using violence in their own homes. Count four again references his dissatisfaction with

Case 2020AP000952 Brief of Appellant Filed 09-03-2020 Page 18 of 23

police policy, and double standards police may be applying in their interactions with the public. In count five, Mr. Oleston tries to report what he believes to be a crime, and expresses his distastes for what he believes are double standards between the police and the public.

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