David J. O'Leary
Rock County District Attorney

Anne T. Nack
Deputy District Attorney



Office of District Attorney
Rock County Courthouse
51 South Main Street
Janesville, Wisconsin 53545
Phone 608-757-5615
FAX 608-757-5725

RECEIVED 10-05-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

For official use only

October 01, 2020

Shelia T. Reiff Clerk, Wisconsin Court of Appeals 110 E. Main Street P.O. Box 1688 Madison, WI 53701-1688

RE: State of Wisconsin vs. Aaron Matthew Oleston

Case No. 2020 AP952CR District IV

Dear Ms. Reiff:

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did the defendant have a First Amendment right to harass off-duty police officers in an attempt to provoke them by conduct which included shouting profanities at them in a public place outside a police station?

Trial Court answered no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

It is the State's position that neither oral argument nor publication are necessary in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was charged with five counts of disorderly conduct and one count of obstructing in a criminal complaint for repeatedly harassing off-duty police officers outside the Janesville Police Department as they were going to and from work as well as for refusing to put down his video camera after being arrested for disorderly conduct. (R.1). Defense counsel subsequently filed a motion to dismiss all of the charges on the grounds that the defendant had a First Amendment right to harass, insult, swear, and yell at the off-duty police officers. (R.16). The circuit court, in a thorough, well-reasoned oral ruling, denied the defendant's

motion to dismiss in its entirety. (R.59). Defense counsel then filed a petition to appeal the circuit court's decision, which was also denied.¹

At the defendant's trial, Daniel Schoonover testified that on August 13, 2018, at about 2:30 p.m., he was arriving for work at the Janesville Police Department when he observed the defendant standing on the sidewalk in front of the police department holding a video camera and yelling loudly. (R.65:98-100). Schoonover was wearing plain (R.65:99). After clothes and carrying a backpack. Schoonover said, "hi" to the defendant, the defendant asked him if he "worked for this piece of shit organization," called him a Nazi, and told him he worked for "blue ISIS." (R.65:99-100). Schoonover also testified that the defendant was pointing a video camera at both him and the employee door to the police department during this time and that there were two or three apartment buildings within "shouting distance of the police department," including an elderly retirement home "right across the street," and a public housing department building "just to the north." (R.65:100-

¹ It appears that neither the petition for leave to appeal nor the denial of the petition were included in the Appellate Record, but these events are clearly

101). Schoonover further testified that he could hear the defendant over 100 feet away and he was disturbed by the defendant's conduct. (R.65:102-103).

Robert Gruenwald testified that shortly after the defendant's encounter with Schoonover, the defendant confronted him as he and Brian Naber were leaving the police department after ending their shifts as police officers. The defendant asked them if they were (R.65:104-105). janitors and after being told they were police officers, the defendant said, "oh, off-duty," asked them if they were going to beat their wives and yelled something along the lines of "you guys are assholes," or "you're just assholes." (R.65:106). Gruenwald was not wearing a police uniform nor carrying a gun at the time of his contact with the defendant. (R.65:105-106). Gruenwald also testified that there were apartment buildings nearby as well as a public street and sidewalk where the defendant was yelling his profane insults. (R.65:106-107). Gruenwald, like Schoonover, was disturbed by the defendant's conduct. (R.65:107).

Brian Naber testified consistent with Gruenwald (R.65:109-111). Naber was also wearing civilian clothing and not carrying a gun. (R.65:109-110). Additionally, Naber was disturbed and felt threatened by the defendant's actions. (R.65:110). Although Naber did not recall anyone walking or driving by at the time of the incident, it was "common for people to be walking through the area" as the police department was located both in a residential area and in the downtown area. (R.65:112).

Chad Pearson testified that he was also confronted by the defendant around the same time as Gruenwald and Naber after ending his shift as a Janesville Police Department Sergeant. (R.65:115-116). Again, Pearson was wearing civilian clothing and not carrying a firearm. (R.65:115). Pearson, who was leaving the police department with off-duty police officers Bradley Rau and Laura Smith, saw the defendant outside the police department holding a camera. (R.65:115). Pearson heard the defendant talking very loudly and say something along the lines of, "are you guys done messing with people lives?" or "fucking with people's lives." (R.65:116). Pearson, Rau, and Smith changed their route of

Case 2020AP000952 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-05-2020 Page 7 of 22

travel to avoid further contact with the defendant by cutting across the grass to get to their vehicles. (R.65:117). Pearson was disturbed over the fact that the defendant tried to confront him about police matters while he was off duty going to his personal vehicle while the defendant was pointing a camera at it. (R.65:118). Pearson also knew that there was an apartment complex "kitty-corner across the street," that a lot of people lived in the area, and that there was a lot of vehicle traffic that passed through the area. (R.65:117-118).

Rau and Smith testified similarly to Pearson. (R.65:122-124, 144-148). Rau specifically recalled that the defendant was using profanity while talking in a loud tone of voice. (R.65:123-124). The defendant got within five feet of Rau and video recorded him while he was in his personal vehicle, which disturbed Rau. (R.65:124). Smith, like Pearson, testified that she, Pearson, and Rau had cut through the grassy part of the parking lot to get to their vehicles in order to avoid a confrontation with the defendant. (R.65:145). Additionally, Smith testified that the defendant "began following us down the sidewalk" while "yelling

Case 2020AP000952 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-05-2020 Page 8 of 22

something as he was recording us." (R.65:145). Smith was also disturbed by the defendant's conduct and recalled the defendant following Rau to his personal vehicle and "recording him from the passenger's side as he pulled away." (R.65:146). Upon having her recollection refreshed, Smith further recalled that the defendant made a comment along the lines of, "are you having fun fucking with people lives," in a "loud, boisterous type of voice." (R.65:146).

Mario Vitaioli was off duty leaving the Janesville Police Department on August 15, 2018, at about 3:00 p.m. when he was confronted by the defendant. (R.65:149). The defendant started to argue with him about not having a front license plate, which disturbed Vitaioli. (R.65:151).

Officer Erin Betley testified that she was working onduty as a Janesville Police Department on August 15, 2018, at 3:00 p.m. when she recognized the defendant video recording patrol cars as they were leaving the garage. (R.65:152-153). Betley then saw the defendant yell at Vitaioli and then at Officer Wiley concerning the lack of a license plate on Vitaioli's car. (R.65:153). Betley also testified that the defendant was "shouting and doing so in a way that was causing quite a disturbance." After she assisted Wiley in arresting the defendant, the defendant was taken to the booking room at the Janesville Police Department. (R.65:155). While speaking to Wiley, the defendant made a comment about Betley sucking "plenty in her day," referring to male genitalia, which disturbed Betley. (*Id.*).

Jeremy Wiley testified that he was off-duty on August 13, 2018, at about 2:30 p.m. when he was confronted by the defendant as he was arriving for work at the police department. (R.65:153). During this incident, the defendant told Wiley to "suck a dick," "fuck you," and that Wiley was an "asshole." (R.65:163). Wiley was disturbed by these comments and when asked why, he responded, "because I felt like I was being harassed. I was just trying to go to work." Wiley again had contact with the defendant (R.65:164). while on duty on August 15, 2018, when he observed the defendant confronting Vitaioli about a missing license plate on his car. (R.65:165). Wiley also testified about video recordings that were played for the jury showing confrontations between the defendant and both on-duty and off-duty police officers. (R.65:166-170; R.42, Exhibits 2-4).

Case 2020AP000952 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-05-2020 Page 10 of 22

Both the defendant and his wife testified during the defense case. (R.65:194-233). The defendant's wife did not witness any of the events leading to the defendant's charges and her testimony was for the most part limited to the defendant's activities before and after the relevant time periods. (R.65:194-204).

When the defendant testified, he did not deny engaging in any of the conduct testified to by the State's witnesses, but claimed to be expressing concern about a number of societal On cross-examination, the defendant issues. (R.65:208). denied hating police officers, but admitted to posting a cartoon on YouTube depicting a pig in a police uniform being shot through the back of a head with the caption, "FUCK (R.65:231; R.43). Additionally, although the POLICE." defendant maintained he only confronted the off-duty police officers to express his concerns about societal problems, he admitted he never mentioned any of these issues when he was velling profane insults at them. (R.65:232). The defendant also denied going to the Janesville Police Department to deliberately provoke them into a confrontation, but this denial was contradicted by the defendant's own words on one of his video recordings. (R.65: 232-233; R.42: Exhibit 3). The defendant was subsequently found guilty on all five counts of disorderly conduct and not guilty of the single count of obstructing. (R.65:282-285). The defendant is now appealing his convictions for disorderly conduct.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

THE DEFENDANT'S CONDUCT WAS DISORDERLY AND NOT PROTECTED UNDER THE FIRST AMENDMENT.

The Defendant's argument in this case is that the disorderly conduct charges alleged in Counts 1-5 should have been dismissed because the Defendant's alleged conduct of confronting off duty-police officers by yelling and swearing at them as they were arriving to and leaving from the Janesville Police Department is constitutionally protected behavior. The Defendant is wrong. See *State v. Breitzman*, 2017 WI 100, ¶ 54, 378 Wis.2d 431, 904 N.W.2d 93. In *Breitzman*, the Court upheld the defendant's conviction for disorderly conduct under Section 947.01(1) finding that the defendant's actions of directing profanity toward her son combined with the surrounding circumstances was sufficient to establish the defendant's guilt in the case, notwithstanding

Case 2020AP000952 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-05-2020 Page 12 of 22

any potential First Amendment challenge. *Id.* at ¶ 58 (cites omitted). See also *In the Interest of A.S.*, 2001 WI 48, ¶ 1, 243 Wis.2d 173, 626 N.W.2d 712 ("speech alone in certain contexts can constitute disorderly conduct."); and *In the Interest of Douglas D.*, 2001 WI 47, ¶ 22, 243 Wis.2d 204, 626 N.W.2d 725 (Section 947.01(1) can "be applied to speech, unaccompanied by physical acts.").

The Defendant's reliance on the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Houston v. Hill*, 482 U.S. 451, 107 S.Ct. 2502 (1986), is misplaced for at least three reasons. First, the *Hill* case involved an overbreath challenge to a municipal ordinance which prohibited interfering with a police officer while executing his or her duties. Second, unlike the *Hill* case, the allegations in this case involve the defendant harassing off-duty police officers. Finally, the Court noted in its opinion that the ordinance was "not narrowly tailored to prohibit only disorderly conduct or fighting words..." Obviously, this case involves a direct application of the Wisconsin disorderly conduct statute to the Defendant's conduct.

Case 2020AP000952 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-05-2020 Page 13 of 22

It is important to note that it is not just the defendant's speech that is at issue, but his conduct as well. As the evidence at trial established, the Defendant either initiated or attempted to initiate contact with off-duty police officers by confronting them outside of the Janesville Police Department. As noted in the *Breitzman* case, speech involving fighting words, obscenity and defamatory speech are not protected under the First Amendment. Even if the Court were to treat the off-duty police officers as on duty officers, the Defendant's alleged comments to them along the lines of "I don't talk to terrorists, so fuck you... suck a dick...you fucking thug," "you work for this piece of shit organization, you Nazi, Isis organization," "you guys are assholes" and "are you having fun fucking with people's lives?" fall within the legal definitions of fighting words, obscenity and defamatory speech and thus subjects the Defendant to prosecution under Section 947.01 of the Wisconsin Statutes. See Lane v. Collins, 29 Wis.2d 66, 72, 138 N.W.2d 264 (1965)(referring to a police officer as a "son-of-a-bitch" constituted abusive language which could provoke retaliatory conduct).

Case 2020AP000952 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-05-2020 Page 14 of 22

Further, in at least three of the disorderly conduct charges, the Defendant is alleged to have yelled profanities at the off-duty officers. As the Wisconsin Supreme Court noted in *In the Interest of Douglas D.*, unreasonably loud and abusive speech are "the nonspeech elements [which] constitute the proscribed 'conduct' under sec. 947.01. And it is these elements that, consistent with the First Amendment, can be punished under sec. 947.01." *Id.* at ¶ 24. In addition, the "fact that the abusive language is directed to a policeman or other law enforcement officer and is not overhead by others does not prevent it from being a violation of such statute or ordinance." *Collins*, 29 Wis.2d at 72.

In his brief, the Defendant fails to address the fact that the alleged disorderly conduct offenses occurred during the day at a public place (a police station). Given the time and location of the alleged conduct, there was a strong likelihood that other people who were not police officers such as civilian employees, arrested suspects, crime victims, or just individuals who happened to be walking by the police department could have been present at the time these incidents. This is a significant fact which should be taken

 Case 2020AP000952
 Brief of Respondent
 Filed 10-05-2020
 Page 15 of 22

into consideration by the Court in its analysis of the issues in this case. As stated in *Collins*, however, whether or not other people actually witnessed the Defendant's interaction with the off-duty officers is irrelevant. See also *In the Interest of A.S.* at ¶ 40 ("The emphasis of the disorderly conduct statute is not on the reaction of the listener or observer, but instead on the conduct in light of the circumstances."); and WIS JI-Criminal 1900 (Proof of an actual disturbance unnecessary to establish a violation of Section 947.01).

In denying the defendant's motion to dismiss, the circuit court described the defendant's conduct detailed in the complaint and stated that, "I think it would be fair to characterize this as essentially stalking these officers." (R.59:49). This in fact is consistent with the evidence presented at trial. In his brief, however, the defendant fails to address the proposition that stalking behavior can constitute disorderly conduct. Additionally, the defendant fails to address the fact that with the exception of Officer Betley, the other officers were off-duty at the time they were confronted by the defendant. The circuit court appropriately considered the significant distinctions when reviewing the First

Case 2020AP000952 Brief of Respondent Filed 10-05-2020 Page 16 of 22

Amendment cases cited by the defense. (R.59:49). Because the off-duty police officers did have a constitutional right to be left alone, the defendant's actions were not protected under the First Amendment. *Hill v. Colorado*, 530 US 703, 716, 120 S.Ct. 2480 (2000). Included in this right is "the right to free passage in going to and from work. . ." *Id.* at 717. While the defendant attempts to undercut the significance of this holding by citing a dissent by Justice Scalia, "a dissent is what the law is not." *State v. Perry*, 181 Wis.2d 43, 49, 510 N.W.2d 722.

In his brief, the defendant invites this Court to "Follow the Modern Trend and Refrain From Criminalizing Profanity." Appellant's Brief, Page 15. The defendant overlooks the important fact, however, that this Court is "principally an error-correcting court and . . . bound to follow our supreme court case law." *State v. Donner*, 192 Wis.2d 305, 316, 531 N.W.2d 369 (1995). As stated previously, the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Breitzman* upheld the defendant's conviction for disorderly conduct under Section 947.01(1), finding that the defendant's actions of directing profanity toward her son combined with the surrounding

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